

TP 15507E

# Modelling Underwater Sound from Small Vessels in Southern Resident Killer Whale Critical Habitat

Noise Reductions for Increased Approach Distances of 400, 600, 800, and 1000 m and Changes in Listening Distances

Submitted to: Veronique Nolet and Laurence Lecavalier Innovation Centre, Transport Canada *Contract:* T8156-17-0001/001/VAN

Author: Jennifer L. Wladichuk

25 June 2021

P001370-005 Task 2 Amendment Document 02365 Version 4.0 JASCO Applied Sciences (Canada) Ltd Suite 2305, 4464 Markham St. Victoria, BC V8Z 7X8 Canada Tel: +1-250-483-3300 Fax: +1-250-483-3301 www.jasco.com



# NOTICES

Suggested citation:

Wladichuk, J.L. 2021. *Modelling Underwater Sound from Small Vessels in Southern Resident Killer Whale Critical Habitat: Noise Reductions for Increased Approach Distances of 400, 600, 800, and 1000 m and Changes in Listening Distances*. Document 02365, Version 4.0. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for Innovation Centre, Transport Canada.

Disclaimer:

The results presented herein are relevant within the specific context described in this report. They could be misinterpreted if not considered in the light of all the information contained in this report. Accordingly, if information from this report is used in documents released to the public or to regulatory bodies, such documents must clearly cite the original report, which shall be made readily available to the recipients in integral and unedited form.

This report reflects the views of the authors (or the performing organization) and not necessarily those of the Innovation Centre of Transport Canada.

Un sommaire français se trouve avant la table des matières.

JASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Noise Reductions for Increased Stand-off Distances in SRKW Critical Habitat

Transport Transports Canada Canada			PUBL	ICATION	DATA FORM	
1. Transport Canada Publication No.	2. Project No.		3. Recipient's C	Catalogue No.		
TP 15507E	B1BW					
4. Title and Subtitle Modelling Lindenwater Sound from St	noll Vacable in South	orn Dooidont	5. Publication [	Date		
Killer Whale Critical Habitat	naii vesseis in Sout	iem Resident	25 June	2021		
			6. Performing C	Organization Docum	ent No.	
			Docum	ent 02365	Version 4.0	
7. Author(s)		8. Transport Ca	anada File No.			
J.L. Wladichuk			RDIMS	17680735		
9. Performing Organization Name and Address			10. PWGSC File	No.		
Suite 2305, 4464 Markham St.	Lta.		T8156-17-0	0001/001/V	۹N	
Victoria, BC V8Z 7X8 Canada			11. PWGSC or 1	ransport Canada C	ontract No.	
			P0013	70-005 Tas	sk 2	
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address			13. Type of Publ	ication and Period (	Covered	
Transport Canada, Innovation Cel	ntre		Technical Report 2020/2021			
330 Sparks Street, 18th Floor		14. Project Office	er			
Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N5			Veronique	Nolet and		
15. Supplementary Notes (Funding programs, titles of related put	plications, etc.)		Laurenc	e Lecavalie	r	
	. ,					
<sup>16.</sup> Abstract A noise assessment was performed (SRKW) minimum vessel approach of potential distances. The acoustic mo scenarios investigated:	to evaluate the effe distances from the odel estimated the f	ects of increasi historic 200 m ollowing avera	ng Southern R to the present ge broadband	esident kill 400 m and reductions	er whale to longer across all the	
• 3.5 dB when increasing the appr	oach distance from	200 to 400 m,				
• 6.1 dB when increasing the appr	oach distance from	200 to 600 m,				
• 7.5 dB when increasing the appr	oach distance from	200 to 800 m,	and			
• 9.7 dB when increasing the appr	oach distance from	200 to 1000 m	ו.			
The model also predicted the listening SRKW communication frequency base increasing the vessel approach distant	ng distance could ir nd and between 40 nce from 200 to 40	ncrease betwee ) and 80% in th )0 m.	en approximate ne SRKW echo	ely 55 and <sup>,</sup> location ba	140% in the ind by	
17. Key Words		18. Distribution Stateme	ent			
Southern Resident killer whales (S distance, masking, whale watch vess	RKW), listening sels, noise	Limited num Innovation (	Dentre	allable from	i the	
19. Security Classification (of this publication)	20. Security Classification (of	this page)	21. Declassification	22. No. of	23. Price	
Unclassified	Unclassified		(date)	55	Shipping/ Handling	
CI/IC 79-005 Rev. 96					Canadä	

Version 4.0

#### UNCLASSIFIED / NON CLASSIFIÉ

JASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Noise Reductions for Increased Stand-off Distances in SRKW Critical Habitat

Transports Transport Canada Canada			F	ORMULE DE DONN	ÉES POUR PUBLICATION			
1. Nº de la publication de Transports Canada	2. N° de l'étude		3. Nº de catalo	que du destinataire				
TP 15507E	B1BW			<b>3</b>				
4. Titre et sous-titre			5. Date de la p	ublication				
Modéliser les sons sous-marins émis essentiel des épaulards résidents du	s par les petits navires c Sud	lans l'habitat	25 juin	25 juin 2021				
			6. N° de docum	nent de l'organisme	exécutant			
			Document	02365 Vers	ion 4.0			
7. Auteur(s)			8. Nº de dossie	er - Transports Cana	da			
Jennifer L. Wladichuk			SGDDI : 17	680735				
9. Nom et adresse de l'organisme exécutant			10. Nº de dossie	er - TPSGC				
Suite 2305, 4464 Markham St	1a) Lto		T8156-17-0	0001/001/V	AN			
Victoria, BC V8Z 7X8 Canada			11. Nº de contra	t - TPSGC ou Trans	ports Canada			
			P001370-0	05 Task 2				
12. Nom et adresse de l'organisme parrain			13. Genre de pu	blication et période	visée			
Transport Canada Centre d'innovation (IC)			Rapport te	chnique 202	20/2021			
Place de Ville, tour C			14. Agent de pro	ojet				
330, rue Sparks, 18e étage			Veronique Nolet et Laurence Lecavalier					
Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N5								
<ul> <li><sup>16. Résumé</sup></li> <li>On a procédé à une évaluation de minimales d'approche des navire historique) à 400 m (valeur actue estimé les réductions moyennes</li> <li>3,5 dB lorsque la distance d'app</li> <li>6,1 dB lorsque la distance d'app</li> <li>7,5 dB lorsque la distance d'app</li> <li>9,7 dB lorsque la distance d'app</li> </ul>	u bruit afin de mesure s pour les épaulards lle) et à des distances suivantes de la bande proche passe de 200 proche passe de 200 proche passe de 200 proche passe de 200	er les effets de résidents du S s potentielles p e passante pou à 400 m, à 600 m, à 800 m, et à 1000 m.	l'augmentation ud, qui passera olus longues. Le ur tous les scén	des distan ient de 200 e modèle ac arios étudie	ces ) m (valeur coustique a és :			
Le modèle a également prédit qu bande de fréquence de communi d'écholocation des épaulards rés 400 m.	e la distance d'écoute cation des épaulards idents du Sud en aug	e pourrait augr résidents du S mentant la dis	nenter d'enviror Sud et de 40 à 8 tance d'approcl	n 55 à 140 80 % dans l ne des navi	% dans la a bande ires de 200 à			
17. Mots clés		18. Diffusion						
Maritime – Bruits sous-marins		Copie nun	nerique					
19. Classification de sécurité (de cette publication)	20. Classification de sécurité	de cette page)	21. Déclassification	22. Nombre	23. Prix			
Non classifiée	Non classifiée		(date) 	<sup>de pages</sup> 55	Port et manutention			
CDT/TDC 79-005 Rev. 96	iv			(	Canad'ä			

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Underwater noise from vessels has been identified as a contributing threat to the recovery of Southern Resident killer whales (SRKWs) (DFO 2018). As part of a coordinated effort to reduce the impact, the Government of Canada increased the whale-watching vessel approach distance from 200 to 400 m for SRKW in 2019 (Government of Canada 2020). This modelling study was conducted by JASCO Applied Sciences for Transport Canada to determine the changes in noise levels by implementing the 400 m stand-off distance. Longer potential distances of 600, 800, and 1000 m were also assessed using the same approach.

Noise levels for three vessel densities (10, 17, and 27 vessels) were assessed at three locations within the SRKW critical habitat in the Salish Sea, where killer whales could be subjected to commercial and recreational whale-watching vessel noise. Various vessel types were incorporated in the modelled assessment using underwater acoustic source levels derived from local systematic field measurements of several whale watch vessel types (Wladichuk et al. 2018) with the participation of the Pacific Whale Watch Association (PWWA). Median source levels for each vessel class (small and large commercial whale-watching, recreational, and small fishing vessels) travelling at speeds less than 7 knots, in accordance with the *Be Whale Wise* guidelines (BeWhaleWise.org 2019), were used in the model.

Changes in received noise levels at simulated whale positions at two depths (10 and 60 m), which represent travelling and foraging depths, were examined in the broadband (8.9 Hz to 64 kHz) frequency range as well as the listening distance in the SRKW communication (500 Hz to 14.1 kHz) and echolocation (14.1 to 64 kHz) bands. Listening distance is a fairly new concept that examines the relative reduction in the distance that a listener can detect an important sound when masking noise levels increase (Pine et al. 2018, Terhune and Killorn 2021). It also accounts for the absolute hearing sensitivity of the listener. Here we investigated the changes in listening distances. We also calculated the listening distance changes due to whale watch vessel presence at the different approach distances relative to ambient noise conditions. Here the ambient noise was represented by the median noise levels in Boundary Pass.

There was a greater reduction in broadband levels when increasing the approach distance from 200 to 400 m at the deeper site (Haro Strait). However, there were minimal noise reductions when increasing from 600 to 800 m (for both receiver depths and all vessel densities). At the shallower sites (Swanson Channel and Race Rocks), there was a near-linear reduction in noise with increase in approach distance. The average broadband reductions across all the scenarios for the following approach distances were:

- 3.5 dB when increasing from 200 to 400 m,
- 6.1 dB when increasing from 200 to 600 m,
- 7.5 dB when increasing from 200 to 800 m, and
- 9.7 dB when increasing from 200 to 1000 m.

The ambient levels used here are from measurements made in Boundary Pass, near the shipping lanes, and are representative of noise levels close to the middle of Haro Strait. In quieter areas within the SRKW critical habitat, we would expect even greater reductions in the killer whales' listening distances when whale-watching vessels are present.

The modelling estimated that by increasing the approach distance from 200 to 400 m, the listening distance could increase between ~55 and ~140% in the SRKW communication frequency band and between 40 and 80% in the SRKW echolocation band. However, we must bear in mind that at 200 m, the listening distance in the communication band is only between 5 and 10% of that relative to ambient noise conditions, and in the echolocation band between 25 and 30% of that relative to ambient conditions.

The modelling also generally predicted greater noise reductions on the deeper (60 m) receiver from increasing the approach distance. Another interesting finding is that the listening distance in the echolocation band was estimated to be less affected than the communication band by vessel presence. This is due partly to reduced vessel source levels at high frequencies for slow speeds but primarily due to higher propagation loss for echolocation returns; echolocation signal propagation loss is approximately twice that in decibels of one-way sound transmission. For some of the scenarios (e.g., 10 and 17 vessels in Haro Strait at the 800 and 1000 m approach distances), the received levels in the echolocation band were comparable to ambient noise levels. However, most scenarios produced noise levels above ambient levels (median noise levels in Boundary Pass).

Lastly, the relative change in listening distance is similar across all vessel densities for each increase in approach distance, except for one scenario (10 m receiver in Haro Strait) where the model predicted greater noise reductions for higher vessel densities.

There were a few constraints of the model, primarily related to vessel specifics—only three different vessel densities (and composition of vessel types within each) were examined. Also, a single source signature was used per vessel type. It was also assumed that the vessels were randomly distributed in a 100-m wide annular area centred on the whales (the listeners). Additionally, the model assumed that vessels maintained a constant slow speed (less than 7 knots), which may not occur in practice. We note the PWWA has agreed to reduce speed to less than 7 knots within 1 km of SRKW. Non-PWWA vessels may not follow that guideline. The model did not consider vessels approaching and departing the whales at higher speeds.

In conclusion, our analysis demonstrated that whale-watching vessel noise can have a substantial impact on the SRKW listening distance in the communication frequency band, in particular, and that by increasing the minimum approach distance and reducing the number of vessels, there could be positive effects on reducing noise levels perceived by the whales.

# RÉSUMÉ

Le bruit sous-marin des navires a été déterminé comme une menace pour le rétablissement des épaulards résidents du sud (ERS) (DFO 2018). Dans le cadre d'un effort coordonné pour réduire les répercussions, le gouvernement du Canada a augmenté la distance d'approche des navires d'observation de baleines de 200 à 400 m pour l'ERS en 2019 (Government of Canada 2020). Cette étude de modélisation a été menée par JASCO Applied Sciences pour Transports Canada afin de déterminer les changements dans les niveaux de bruit en appliquant la distance de sécurité de 400 m. Des distances potentielles plus longues de 600, 800 et 1 000 m ont également été évaluées en utilisant la même approche.

Les niveaux de bruit pour trois densités de navires (10, 17 et 27 navires) ont été évalués à trois endroits dans l'habitat essentiel de l'ERS dans la mer des Salish, où les épaulards pourraient être soumis au bruit des navires commerciaux et récréatifs d'observation de baleines. Divers types de navires ont été intégrés à l'évaluation modélisée à l'aide des niveaux de source acoustique sous-marine dérivés de mesures locales systématiques sur le terrain de plusieurs types de navires d'observation de baleines (Wladichuk et al. 2018) avec la participation de la Pacific Whale Watch Association (PWWA). Les niveaux de source médians pour chaque classe de navires (petits et grands navires commerciaux d'observation de baleines, navires de plaisance et petits navires de pêche) voyageant à des vitesses inférieures à 7 nœuds, conformément aux lignes directrices du partenariat *Be Whale Wise*, (BeWhaleWise.org 2019) ont été utilisés dans le modèle.

Les changements dans les niveaux de bruit détectés à des positions simulées de baleines à deux profondeurs (10 et 60 m), qui représentent les profondeurs de déplacement et de recherche de nourriture, ont été examinés dans la gamme de fréquences à large bande (de 8,9 Hz à 64 kHz) ainsi que la distance d'écoute dans la communication de l'ERS (de 500 Hz à 14,1 kHz) et des bandes d'écholocalisation (de 14,1 à 64 kHz). La distance d'écoute est un concept relativement nouveau qui examine la réduction relative de la distance à laquelle un auditeur peut détecter un son important lorsque le masquage des niveaux de bruit augmente (Pine et al. 2018, Terhune and Killorn 2021). Il rend également compte de la sensibilité auditive absolue de l'auditeur. Ici, nous avons étudié les changements de distance d'écoute lors de l'augmentation de la distance d'approche de 200 à 400 m, ainsi que pour des distances plus longues. Nous avons également calculé les changements de distance d'écoute dus à la présence de navires d'observation de baleines aux différentes distances d'approche par rapport aux conditions de bruit ambiant. Ici, le bruit ambiant était représenté par les niveaux de bruit médians dans le passage Boundary.

On a constaté une plus grande réduction des niveaux de large bande en augmentant la distance d'approche de 200 à 400 m sur le site le plus profond (détroit de Haro). Cependant, les réductions de bruit étaient minimes lorsque l'on passait de 600 à 800 m (pour les deux profondeurs de récepteur et toutes les densités de navires). Aux sites moins profonds (chenal Swanson et rochers Race), on a constaté une réduction presque linéaire du bruit avec l'augmentation de la distance d'approche. Les réductions moyennes de la large bande dans tous les scénarios pour les distances d'approche suivantes étaient de :

- 3,5 dB en passant de 200 à 400 m;
- 6,1 dB en passant de 200 à 600 m;
- 7,5 dB en passant de 200 à 800 m;
- 9,7 dB en passant de 200 à 1 000 m.

Les niveaux ambiants utilisés ici proviennent de mesures effectuées au passage Boundary, près des voies de navigation, et sont représentatifs des niveaux de bruit près du milieu du détroit de Haro. Dans les zones plus calmes de l'habitat essentiel de l'ERS, nous nous attendons à des réductions encore plus importantes des distances d'écoute des épaulards lorsque des navires d'observation de baleines sont présents.

La modélisation a permis d'estimer qu'en augmentant la distance d'approche de 200 à 400 m, la distance d'écoute pourrait augmenter de ~55 à ~140 % dans la bande de fréquence de communication de l'ERS et entre 40 et 80 % dans la bande d'écholocalisation de l'ERS. Il faut cependant garder à l'esprit qu'à 200 m, la distance d'écoute dans la bande de communication n'est que de 5 à 10 % de celle relative aux conditions de bruit ambiant, et dans la bande d'écholocalisation de 25 à 30 % de celle relative aux conditions ambiantes.

La modélisation a également généralement prédit de manière générale des réductions de bruit plus importantes sur le récepteur plus profond (60 m) en augmentant la distance d'approche. Un autre résultat intéressant est que la distance d'écoute dans la bande d'écholocalisation a été estimée comme étant moins affectée que la bande de communication par la présence de navires. Cela est dû en partie à la réduction des niveaux de source du navire à des fréquences élevées pour des vitesses lentes, mais surtout à une perte de propagation plus élevée pour les retours d'écholocalisation – la perte de propagation du signal d'écholocalisation est environ deux fois celle en décibels de la transmission sonore unidirectionnelle. Pour certains des scénarios (p. ex., 10 et 17 navires dans le détroit de Haro aux distances d'approche de 800 et 1 000 m), les niveaux détectés dans la bande d'écholocalisation étaient comparables aux niveaux de bruit ambiant. Cependant, la plupart des scénarios ont produit des niveaux de bruit supérieurs aux niveaux ambiants (niveaux de bruit médians dans le passage Boundary).

Enfin, le changement relatif de la distance d'écoute est similaire pour toutes les densités de navires pour chaque augmentation de la distance d'approche, à l'exception d'un scénario (récepteur de 10 m dans le détroit de Haro) où le modèle a prédit des réductions de bruit plus importantes pour des densités de navires plus élevées.

Le modèle comportait quelques contraintes, principalement liées aux spécificités des navires : seules trois densités de navires différentes (et la composition des types de navires au sein de chacune) ont été examinées. De plus, une seule signature de source a été utilisée par type de navire. On a également supposé que les navires étaient répartis de manière aléatoire dans une surface annulaire de 100 m de large centrée sur les baleines (les auditeurs). En outre, le modèle a supposé que les navires maintenaient une vitesse lente constante (moins de 7 nœuds), ce qui peut ne pas se produire hors simulation. Nous notons que la PWWA a accepté de réduire la vitesse de ces navires à moins de 7 nœuds à moins de 1 km de l'ERS. Les navires qui ne sont pas des navires de la PWWA peuvent ne pas suivre cette directive. Le modèle n'a pas pris en compte les navires approchant et s'éloignant des baleines à des vitesses plus élevées.

En conclusion, notre analyse a démontré que le bruit des navires d'observation de baleines peut avoir une incidence importante sur la distance d'écoute de l'ERS dans la bande de fréquences de communication, en particulier, et qu'en augmentant la distance d'approche minimale et en réduisant le nombre de navires, il pourrait y avoir des effets positifs sur la réduction des niveaux de bruit perçus par les baleines.

# CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Killer Whale Hearing and Sounds	1
1.2. Critical Habitat of SRKW and Their Relative Habitat Use	3
2. METHODS	4
2.1. Study Sites	4
2.2. Vessel Noise Modelling	5
2.3. Calculation of Listening Distance	7
3. Results	13
4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	22
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	25
AUTHORIZED RELEASE	
LITERATURE CITED	27

#### Appendices

A.	Killer	Whale	Audiogram	
----	--------	-------	-----------	--

- B. Modelling Methods and Parameters
- C. Results Tables
- D. Detection Threshold Results

### FIGURES

Figure 1. Spectrogram of Southern Resident killer whale (SRKW) calls (horizontal bands/curves) and clicks (vertical lines).	2
Figure 2. (Left) Critical habitat for Southern Resident killer whales (SRKW) (DFO 2011) and (right) distribution of SRKW sightings from 1990–2005	3
Figure 3. Model sites of killer whale pod locations	4
Figure 4. Diagram showing simulated vessel locations (triangles) in relation to a Southern Resident killer whale (SRKW) pod	6
Figure 5. Map of the model sites (yellow stars) and ambient noise station (purple triangle)	9
Figure 6. Exceedance percentiles of ambient noise power spectral density (PSD; 1 min average) at the Boundary Pass Underwater Listening Station (ULS) for July 2020	10
Figure 7. Combined threshold (red dots) versus frequency representing the greater of the ambient noise levels (yellow line) and Southern Resident killer whale (SRKW) audiogram (blue line) in 1/3-octave frequency bands.	10
Figure 8. Reductions in broadband noise levels with increase in whale-watching approach distance for three vessel densities.	14
Figure 9. Modelled 1/3-octave-band vessel noise versus frequency from 27 vessels for all approach distances at Site 2 – Haro Strait.	15
Figure 10. Relative listening distance (to ambient) at Site 1 (Swanson Channel)	19
Figure 11. Relative listening distance (to ambient) at Site 2 (Haro Strait)	20
Figure 12. Relative listening distance (to ambient) at Site 3 (Race Rocks)	21

# TABLES

Table 1. Modelled sites with geographic coordinates and water depth	5
Table 2. Types of modelled vessels and their characteristics	5
Table 3. Number of simulated vessels of each type for the three scenarios considered at each site	6
Table 4. 200 to 400 m: Percent (%) increase in listening distance for all modelled scenarios, that would result from increasing the approach distance.	. 16
Table 5. 200 to 600 m: Percent (%) increase in listening distance for all modelled scenarios, that would result from increasing the approach distance.	. 17
Table 6. 200 to 800 m: Percent (%) increase in listening distance for all modelled scenarios, that would result from increasing the approach distance.	. 17
Table 7. 200 to 1000 m: Percent (%) increase in listening distance for all modelled scenarios, that would result from increasing the approach distance.	. 18

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Acoustic noise from vessels has been identified as a contributing threat to the recovery of Southern Resident killer whales (SRKW) (DFO 2018). While large commercial vessels are often the focus of underwater noise studies, Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) has also identified underwater noise from small vessel traffic as potentially having a negative impact on SRKW. In 2018, the approach distance in the Marine Mammal Regulations was amended to 200 m from 100 m for all killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) in Canadian waters in the Pacific Ocean, and this regulation applies year round (BeWhaleWise.org 2019, Justice Laws 2020). In 2019, the Government of Canada implemented an increased approach distance for killer whales of 400 m from 1 Jun to 31 Oct 2019 in SRKW critical habitat (Government of Canada 2020). Starting June 2020, 400 m approach distance was applied year round in SRKW range (DFO 2020). The Government of Canada is currently assessing the underwater noise exposure reduction achieved by implementing this increased approach distance and also for longer distances.

This analysis expands on three previous studies performed by JASCO Applied Sciences Ltd. (JASCO) for DFO and Transport Canada (TC) that considered an approach distance of 200 m (Wladichuk and Hannay 2017, Yurk et al. 2017, Wladichuk 2020). Yurk et al. (2017) modelled source levels from surrogate vessels, whereas Wladichuk and Hannay (2017) and Wladichuk (2020) modelled source levels from local whale watching vessels and other small vessels from field measurements conducted in the Salish Sea.

In this analysis, which applies similar modelling methodology as the previous studies, underwater noise exposure from small vessels was examined at three sites around southern Vancouver Island (Swanson Channel, Haro Strait near Lime Kiln Lighthouse, and Juan de Fuca Strait near Race Rocks) (Figure 3). The sites are within the SRKW critical habitat and represent important feeding and travelling areas (Hauser et al. 2007), as well as being popular whale watching spots (Hauser et al. 2006). A model-based approach for three vessel density scenarios (10, 17, and 27 vessels to represent low, medium, and high number of whale-watching vessels) was used to assess the reduction in underwater noise exposure, as perceived by killer whales, attained by increasing the approach distance to an interim distance of 400 m, as well as additional distances of 600, 800, and 1000 m. To examine absolute impacts on the killer whales, reductions in listening distance in the SRKW communication and echolocation frequency bands relative to ambient noise conditions (the median sound level in Boundary Pass) were also assessed.

#### 1.1. Killer Whale Hearing and Sounds

SRKW produce various vocalizations including pulsed calls, whistles, and echolocation clicks. They use calls to communicate over distances that can extend up to 15 km under very quiet conditions and echolocation clicks to navigate and forage at shorter ranges (Au et al. 2004, Miller 2006). Their hearing sensitivity range is well suited for the sounds generated by members of their own species (Figure 1) and effective for detecting echolocation clicks (Barrett-Lennard et al. 1996). See additional killer whale audiogram information in Appendix A. The frequency ranges of pulsed calls that carry most of the sound energy range from 1–15 kHz, while whistles range from 7–17 kHz (Riesch et al. 2006). Echolocation clicks appear to have a bimodal distribution with a lower-frequency peak between 20 and 30 kHz and a high-frequency peak between 40 and 60 kHz (Au et al. 2004). In this study, vessel source levels were determined over a frequency band up to 64 kHz (limited by sampling rate) to enable assessing the effects

on echolocation signals; however, it is noted that killer whale echolocation clicks extend to higher frequencies, but the majority of the energy is below 64 kHz.

Noise from small vessels can prevent whales from hearing vocalization and echolocation signals (i.e., auditory signal masking). The potential adverse effects of elevated noise levels on whales and other marine animals, especially the impact on listening distance, depend partly on the intensity and duration of the noise and partly on how sensitive the animal's hearing is to the frequency content of the noise (Nedwell and Turnpenny 1998, Nedwell et al. 2007).



Figure 1. Spectrogram of Southern Resident killer whale (SRKW) calls (horizontal bands/curves) and clicks (vertical lines). The sound frequency changes are depicted over time (sound contours). Sound pressure levels are shown as pressure density in 1 Hz bands and are colour coded: blue and green are low levels, and yellow and red are high levels.

#### 1.2. Critical Habitat of SRKW and Their Relative Habitat Use

The currently designated critical habitat of SRKW includes transboundary waters in southern British Columbia (Figure 2). The area encompasses the southern Strait of Georgia, Haro Strait, Juan de Fuca Strait, and waters surrounding Swiftsure and La Pérouse Banks (the latter was designated in 2018 for SRKWs and Northern Resident killer whales). The modelling sites chosen for this study represent areas of generally higher use by SRKWs, and, as a result, the sites also generally have high rates of whale watching activity.



Figure 2. (Left) Critical habitat for Southern Resident killer whales (SRKW) (DFO 2011) and (right) distribution of SRKW sightings from 1990–2005 (Data from The Whale Museum 2005, NMFS 2008).

# 2. METHODS

#### 2.1. Study Sites

This investigation, similar to the previous studies (Wladichuk and Hannay 2017, Yurk et al. 2017, Wladichuk 2020), modelled underwater vessel noise exposure of SRKW at the following three sites in the Salish Sea (Figure 3), all of which are in SRKW critical habitat:

- Swanson Channel west of North Pender Island
- Haro Strait near the Lime Kiln Lighthouse
- Near Race Rocks Lighthouse in Juan de Fuca Strait.

The geographic locations and water depth for each modelled site are shown in Table 1; water depths are based on bathymetry from the area (see Appendix B.2).



Figure 3. Model sites of killer whale pod locations, all of which are in Southern Resident killer whale (SRKW) critical habitat. Inset shows the study area (red box), which encompasses southern Vancouver Island.

Table 1. Modelled sites with geographic coordinates and water depth. Easting and northing are in UTM Zone 10N. These sites are the same as those used in the previous studies (Wladichuk and Hannay 2017, Yurk et al. 2017, Wladichuk 2020).

Site	Latitude	Longitude	Easting (m)	Northing (m)	Water depth (m)
1-Swanson Channel	48.76° N	123.33° W	476100	5401208	75
2-Haro Strait	48.51° N	123.16° W	488278	5373499	272
3-Race Rocks	48.30° N	123.57° W	457794	5349892	120

#### 2.2. Vessel Noise Modelling

Underwater noise exposures were modelled at the three study sites for the five different approach distances (200, 400, 600, 800, and 1000 m) by distributing simulated vessels in three different configurations (10, 17, and 27 vessels) around a single listener location representing a SRKW pod. Each model scenario was iterated 1000 times in order to calculate an average sound level for various vessel configurations. This study uses the same methodology, described below and as the previous three studies (Wladichuk and Hannay 2017, Yurk et al. 2017, Wladichuk 2020).

The simulated vessels consisted of commonly encountered types of commercial whale watching vessels and pleasure craft (Table 2). Vessel source levels were determined from systematic field measurements of vessels transiting at a range of speeds at the Haro Strait modelling site (Appendix B.3) (Wladichuk et al. 2018). Median source levels (SLs) of each vessel type measured in the field study (Wladichuk et al. 2018) were computed for the slow speed transects, which were for vessel speeds less than 7 knots (the median speed of all vessels was 5 knots). SLs were grouped based on the vessel types identified in the Yurk et al. (2017) modelling study. The modelling assumed that all vessels travelled at slow speeds (<7 knots) in accordance with the marine mammal viewing guidelines.

Vessel type	Vessel size	Average length (m)	Source depth (m)	Measured vessels
Whole wetching	Small	7.0	0.5	Rigid-hulled inflatable boats (RHIB)
whate watching	Large	14.0	1.3	Large monohulls
	Small	11.0	0.5	Sailboats
Pleasure crait	Large	14.5	0.5	Catamarans
Fishing vessel	Small	9.0	1.3	Charter fishing vessels

Table 2. Types of modelled vessels and their characteristics (Yurk et al. 2017, Wladichuk et al. 2018, Wladichuk 2020).

For each noise exposure scenario, vessels were placed at random positions around the whales inside a 100 m wide area with an inside radius equal to the approach distance (either 400, 600, 800, or 1000 m) and an outer radius 100 m greater (Figure 4). For each approach distance, we modelled three different vessel scenarios at each site, representing 10, 17, and 27 vessels (Table 3).



Figure 4. Diagram showing simulated vessel locations (triangles) in relation to a Southern Resident killer whale (SRKW) pod (not to scale). Distances of individual vessels were chosen at random from a uniform distribution between the approach distance (green circle) and 100 m farther from the whales (red circle).

Table 3. Number of simulated vessels of each type for the three scenarios considered at each site.

Numbers are based on values provided by Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO).						
Vessel type	Vessel size	10 Vessels	17 Vessels	27 Vessels		

Vessel type	Vessel size	10 Vessels	17 Vessels	27 Vessels
Whale watching	Small	3	4	5
	Large	2	4	7
Diagouro aroft	Small	2	4	8
	Large	1	3	5
Fishing vessel	Small	2	2	2

Noise exposures were modelled in terms of sound pressure level (SPL) as received by the whales, in units of decibels (dB), and noise levels at the whales' locations were calculated using JASCO's Marine Operations Noise Model (MONM; see Appendix B.1). The model computed the acoustic field in three dimensions by calculating propagation loss (reduction in sound level with distance from the source) within each modelling area by incorporating the following site-specific environmental properties:

- Bathymetry,
- Water sound speed profile (which affects sound refraction in the water column), and
- Geo-acoustic properties of the seabed (which affect acoustic reflection and refraction in the seabed).

Source levels were then added to the propagation loss to calculate sound levels that would be received at a given location.

Spatial distributions of noise levels for each of the three modelled sites (Swanson Channel, Haro Strait, and Race Rocks; see Figure 3) were calculated for a flat sea bottom with water depths representative of the respective sites as listed in Table 1. Although the model could easily have handled a realistic bathymetry for each site, the flat bottom assumption was made to yield more generally applicable estimates unaffected by localized sea bottom features. The modelling was performed using temperature and salinity profiles representing July conditions, because whale watching activity is most intense in summer. These environmental conditions, along with pressure, affect sound propagation and change very little over the June to September period when most whale-watching and pleasure boating occur.

Noise levels were modelled at two depths, 10 and 60 m, representing a shallower travelling depth and a deeper foraging depth. The foraging depth is between the median foraging depths presented in Wright et al. (2017) and Tennessen et al. (2019). Appendix B provides a detailed description of the acoustic modelling used in this study.

#### 2.3. Calculation of Listening Distance

This study, along with the previous studies (Wladichuk and Hannay 2017, Yurk et al. 2017, Wladichuk 2020), considered the vessel noise emissions in relation to the frequency-dependent hearing acuity of killer whales and the frequency spectrum of the background ambient noise.

We first calculated the received noise level in each frequency band and evaluated it relative to the hearing threshold of killer whales in that band as defined by their audiogram (Appendix A). We then applied a relatively new approach to examine the effects of the noise exposures on the ability of killer whales to use sound for communicating and echolocating/foraging. The approach is referred to as the listening distance (LD) method, which is similar to communication space methods (e.g., Hatch et al. 2012) without being limited to communication calls. This method considers masking from the perspective of the listener and the corresponding change in distance within which the listener can detect audible biologically important sounds (Barber et al. 2010, Matthews et al. 2016, Pine et al. 2018).

The LD method examines relative changes in the distances over which important sounds, such as communication calls and echolocation sounds, can be detected by a listener (here a killer whale) in the presence of differing background noise environments. An important benefit of the LD method is that it does not require knowledge of sound source levels (i.e., the loudness of the original sound of interest when it was produced), listener detection thresholds, or the directionality of received signals. The method only requires knowledge of the hearing sensitivity

(audiogram) of the species and the *received* levels of the noise that could potentially mask sounds of interest. The LD method, however, does not yield *absolute* distances over which a sound could be detected; it only provides the *relative change* in detection distance for different signal masking scenarios, e.g., the change of detection distance resulting from changes in distance between listener and noise source. There are also a few assumptions made in this analysis such as, a 1/3-octave band auditory filter shape holds true across the hearing range or recorded frequency range, the fact that animals probably do not spend time at only two depths, and the assumption that vessel sound sources are distributed randomly around the whales.

An animal's ability to detect a sound at a given frequency is limited most fundamentally by the subject's hearing ability in the presence of noise. As a result, a sound whose received level is below the animal's absolute hearing threshold cannot be perceived. For a sound whose received level is above the animal's hearing threshold, detectability is then limited by the background noise of the environment, i.e., the background noise level becomes the ultimate threshold for detectability. The LD method therefore uses a threshold, called the equivalent masking level, that combines the influence of hearing threshold (audiogram) with the background noise level on signal detectability (see Figure 7). The ambient sound levels used to represent the background noise levels are specific to the study location under realistic conditions. Realistic ambient sound levels include sounds resulting from natural sources, such as precipitation, wind, and waves, as well as persistent anthropogenic sources, such as vessels.

The ambient noise levels used for all three sites in this assessment are the 50th percentile (median) levels from July 2020 collected on an Underwater Listening Station (ULS) in Boundary Pass (Figures 5 and 6). The frequency resolved ambient sound level is shown in Figure 7 along with the SRKW hearing threshold-the greater of the two levels in each frequency band is the combined threshold or equivalent masking level.

ASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Noise Reductions for Increased Stand-off Distances in SRKW Critical Habitat



Figure 5. Map of the model sites (yellow stars) and ambient noise station (purple triangle).





Relative Spectral Probability Density





Figure 7. Combined threshold (red dots) versus frequency representing the greater of the ambient noise levels (yellow line) and Southern Resident killer whale (SRKW) audiogram (blue line) in 1/3-octave frequency bands. This combined threshold determines the equivalent masking level for SRKW under median ambient conditions measured at the Boundary Pass Underwater Listening Station (ULS) and the killer whale audiogram (Appendix A).

As mentioned previously, the LD method assumes that the relative change in distance over which a sound can be heard depends only on the change in the equivalent masking level, which is the greater of the hearing threshold and the background sound level and is represented by the red dots in Figure 7. The calculation of LD assumes that a change in the equivalent masking level entails a proportional adjustment of the listener's distance from the sound source if the received level of the sound of interest is to remain at the threshold of detectability, i.e., when noise levels increase, a listener must move closer to the sound source to be able to detect it. The relative amount of listening distance reduction, due to an increase in the number of vessels for example, requires knowledge of the frequency-dependent propagation loss of the call, the change in masking noise levels (i.e., ambient noise levels), and the species' audiogram (Barber et al. 2010, Matthews et al. 2016).

The amount by which sound levels decrease with increasing distance from a sound source is known as acoustic propagation loss. Thus, the previous argument may be restated to say that in order for the sound of interest to remain at the threshold of detectability, the change in propagation loss between the source and the listener must equal the change in equivalent masking level. Over distances less than a few water depths, we can assume a simple propagation loss function (in decibels) of  $N \log r$ , where r is the source-listener distance and N is a spreading loss parameter. Then the relationship between LD and the change in equivalent masking level can be shown to be:

$$N\log\left(r_2/r_1\right) = -\Delta , \tag{1}$$

where  $\Delta$  is the change in equivalent masking level,  $r_1$  represents the initial LD and  $r_2$  represents the final LD. For example, if the equivalent masking level increases by 6 dB ( $\Delta$  = 6), and if N = 20 (a common value for short distance propagation and verified by the propagation loss model to be valid for frequencies >1 kHz), then from Equation 1 the relative change in LD is  $r_2/r_1$ = 1/2. This means that the source must be at half its original distance from the listener to remain acoustically detectable.

The only parametric assumption required for applying this method is the choice of a suitable rate of sound propagation loss *N*. It must also be assumed that other ambient factors affecting masking of a sound remain the same in the before and after scenarios. An important factor to consider when determining absolute masking levels is the directivity index of the signal and the noise, which defines how well an animal can resolve a sound arriving from a given direction in the presence of masking noise arriving from a different direction, e.g., by orienting itself to face the sound of interest. This parameter can only be neglected under the premise that spatial distribution of masking noise does not change with orientation, which is valid for the present study because the noise is assumed to arrive from vessels positioned all around the animals. Only the distance of the vessels from the animal's changes when increasing the approach distance.

As the separation between vessels and whales increases, sound levels received by the whales decrease. This reduction is biologically important from a masking standpoint if it results in an increase of LD at sound frequencies that are important to the whales. We calculated the equivalent masking level by summing the individual changes in equivalent masking level from small vessel sounds across 1/3-octave-bands (an approximation of a critical band) within frequency ranges that are important to SRKW. We then calculated the relative change in LD (as a percentage of the original LD) that would result from increasing the approach distance. We analyzed the effect of masking over two frequency ranges determined to be of importance to SRKW (Heise et al. 2017):

- 1. 500 Hz to 15 kHz, which includes the typical frequency range of SRKW communication calls. We used a modified band of 500 Hz to 14.1 kHz and assumed that the rate of propagation loss for these calls was 20 log (*r*).
- 2. 15 kHz to 100 kHz, which includes the typical frequency range of echolocation clicks. We calculated this band from 14.1 kHz to 64 kHz. We also calculated relative change in foraging distance using a propagation loss rate of 40 log (*r*) to account for the two-way propagation loss of echolocation signals (away from and back toward the whale).

At frequencies where SRKW hearing sensitivity is below the masking sound levels, increases to the approach distance are expected to reduce equivalent masking levels. So, over these frequencies we expect an increase in the relative LD, i.e., an improvement in the acoustic environment for SRKW. While the LD can be calculated separately for each 1/3-octave frequency band (which approximate critical SRKW hearing bands), we instead summed the 1/3-octave equivalent masking levels through the two frequency ranges described above (500 Hz to 14.1 kHz, or 14.1 kHz to 64 kHz) to obtain changes in the *wide-band* equivalent masking level for use with Equation 1. The relative LD results are obtained using the wide-band approach, and results are then expressed as a percentage of the original LD: i.e.,  $100\% \times (r_2/r_1 - 1)$ .

### 3. RESULTS

Figure 8 presents the reductions in noise levels at each of the three study sites for the different whale-watching approach distances, relative to an approach distance of 200 m. Corresponding values are listed in Tables C-1 and C-2 along with modelled broadband vessel noise levels (not reductions) as well as the difference in sound levels between vessel noise for an approach distance of 200 m relative to ambient noise.

The plots in Figure 8 show that water depth influences received vessel noise levels. For example, at the deeper site (Haro Strait), there are greater reductions in noise levels when the approach distance is increased from 200 to 400 m (for both receiver depths) than at the two shallower sites (Swanson Channel and Race Rocks). However, there are minimal reductions in noise when approach distance is increased from 600 to 800 m. In contrast, at the two shallower sites, there is almost a linear decrease in noise with increasing approach distance from 200 m to 1000 m. Additionally, there generally appears to be greater reductions in noise levels with increasing approach distance at the deeper (60 m) receiver. An expected finding is that the noise levels scale proportionately with vessel density, therefore, the SPL reductions are almost equal between the vessel densities as is shown in Figure 8. The only exception to this occurs at the 10 m receiver depth in Haro Strait, where there appears to be greater reductions in noise levels for the 27-vessel scenario when increasing the approach distances.

The average broadband reductions across all scenarios for the following approach distance changes were:

- 3.5 dB when increasing from 200 to 400 m,
- 6.1 dB when increasing from 200 to 600 m,
- 7.5 dB when increasing from 200 to 800 m, and
- 9.7 dB when increasing from 200 to 1000 m.

The average broadband increase above ambient levels when vessels are at an approach distance of 200 m was 22.5 dB across all 3 sites and vessel densities.

Due to the presence of low-frequency (<100 Hz) noise artifacts in the field measurements of vessel source levels used as inputs to the model, the broadband SPL are expected to be slightly high estimates. The *differences* in the received sound levels between two approach distances, however, are not influenced by this spurious contribution. Nor are the listening distance calculations due to the SRKW communication and echolocation bands being above this frequency.



Figure 8. Reductions in broadband noise levels with increase in whale-watching approach distance for three vessel densities. The left column presents results for the 10-m receiver, and the right column is the 60-m receiver. Top row: Swanson Channel (water depth 75 m), middle row: Haro Strait (270 m), and bottom row: Race Rocks (120 m).

Figure 9 shows frequency-dependent noise levels from the highest vessel density (27) scenario at Site 2 (Haro Strait) in relation to ambient noise and the SRKW audiogram. The plots, one for each receiver depth, illustrate the decrease in masking across frequencies for the various approach distances. Resident killer whale calls travel farthest based on the energy located in frequencies 800 Hz-5 kHz with a peak around 2 kHz (Mouy et al. 2020). This band contains a significant portion of the perceived noise from whale watch vessels. None of the modelled approach distances will reduce the levels below median ambient noise levels except for the 1000 m distance for frequencies above ~30 kHz.



Figure 9. Modelled 1/3-octave-band vessel noise versus frequency from 27 vessels for all approach distances at Site 2 – Haro Strait. Vessel SPL was modelled at a listener depth of 10 m (left) and 60 m (right).

Tables 4–7 present the increase in listening distance (LD), in both the communication and echolocation frequency bands, for the approach distances of 400, 600, 800, and 1000 m, compared to 200 m for each site and vessel scenario. The increase in LD was calculated from the change in detectable vessel noise levels for SRKW, as described in Appendix D. These results show that the vessel sounds have a greater effect on LD for animals at 60 m than at 10 m depth, except at the closest vessel distance of 400 m. This could be due to acoustic shadowing by the surface at farther ranges from the source. Site 2, the deepest site, consistently has the largest increase in LD across all approach distances and vessel scenarios.

Table 4. 200 to 400 m: Percent (%) increase in listening distance for all modelled scenarios, that would result from increasing the approach distance. Results are provided for the two frequency ranges that killer whales use in acoustic signaling: 500 Hz to 14.1 kHz (covering the range of calls and lower-frequency whistles) and 14.1 kHz to 64 kHz (upper frequency range of whistles and echolocation clicks). A value of 0% corresponds to no change, a value of 100% corresponds to a doubling of the listening distance, and 200% to a tripling of the distance.

	Listening distance (LD)							
Site	500 Hz to 14 kHz Communication-Type			14 Ect	4 kHz to 64 kHz holocation-Type			
	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels		
10 m listener depth								
1-Swanson Channel	64.1	66.0	66.0	51.4	53.1	52.2		
2-Haro Strait	137.1	137.1	134.4	80.9	79.9	80.9		
3-Race Rocks	111.3	111.3	111.3	72.8	73.8	73.8		
60 m listener depth								
1-Swanson Channel	56.7	58.5	58.5	40.4	40.4	40.4		
2-Haro Strait	82.0	82.0	82.0	48.8	48.8	48.8		
3-Race Rocks	77.8	75.8	75.8	46.2	47.1	46.2		

Table 5. 200 to 600 m: Percent (%) increase in listening distance for all modelled scenarios, that would result from increasing the approach distance. Results are provided for the two frequency ranges that killer whales use in acoustic signaling: 500 Hz to 14.1 kHz (covering the range of calls and lower-frequency whistles) and 14.1 kHz to 64 kHz (upper frequency range of whistles and echolocation clicks). A value of 0% corresponds to no change, a value of 100% corresponds to a doubling of the listening distance, and 200% to a tripling of the distance.

	Listening distance (LD)							
Site	500 Hz to 14 kHz Communication-Type			14 kHz to 64 kHz Echolocation-Type				
	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels		
10 m listener depth								
1-Swanson Channel	88.4	90.5	90.5	79.9	80.9	80.9		
2-Haro Strait	254.8	246.7	246.7	151.2	152.6	152.6		
3-Race Rocks	131.7	134.4	134.4	112.6	113.8	113.8		
60 m listener depth								
1-Swanson Channel	139.9	139.9	142.7	96.1	96.1	96.1		
2-Haro Strait	227.3	227.3	227.3	127.8	127.8	127.8		
3-Race Rocks	160.0	157.0	157.0	107.7	107.7	106.5		

Table 6. 200 to 800 m: Percent (%) increase in listening distance for all modelled scenarios, that would result from increasing the approach distance. Results are provided for the two frequency ranges that killer whales use in acoustic signaling: 500 Hz to 14.1 kHz (covering the range of calls and lower-frequency whistles) and 14.1 kHz to 64 kHz (upper frequency range of whistles and echolocation clicks). A value of 0% corresponds to no change, a value of 100% corresponds to a doubling of the listening distance, and 200% to a tripling of the distance.

	Listening distance (LD)									
Site	50 Com	0 Hz to 14 k munication-	Hz Type	14 kHz to 64 kHz Echolocation-Type						
	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels				
10 m listener depth										
1-Swanson Channel	106.5	108.9	108.9	113.8	115.0	113.8				
2-Haro Strait	357.1	351.9	351.9	238.8	238.8	238.8				
3-Race Rocks	129.1	131.7	134.4	148.3	151.2	149.7				
60 m listener depth										
1-Swanson Channel	242.8	242.8	242.8	170.7	170.7	170.7				
2-Haro Strait	455.9	449.5	449.5	242.8	244.7	242.8				
3-Race Rocks	250.8	246.7	246.7	178.6	178.6	178.6				

Table 7. 200 to 1000 m: Percent (%) increase in listening distance for all modelled scenarios, that would result from increasing the approach distance. Results are provided for the two frequency ranges that killer whales use in acoustic signaling: 500 Hz to 14.1 kHz (covering the range of calls and lower-frequency whistles) and 14.1 kHz to 64 kHz (upper frequency range of whistles and echolocation clicks). A value of 0% corresponds to no change, a value of 100% corresponds to a doubling of the listening distance, and 200% to a tripling of the distance.

	Listening distance (LD)									
Site	50 Com	0 Hz to 14 kl munication-	Hz Type	14 kHz to 64 kHz Echolocation-Type						
	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels				
10 m listener depth										
1-Swanson Channel	131.7	131.7	131.7	141.3	142.7	141.3				
2-Haro Strait	430.9	430.9	430.9	316.9	316.9	316.9				
3-Race Rocks	181.8	185.1	185.1	193.4	196.8	195.1				
60 m listener depth										
1-Swanson Channel	373.2	373.2	373.2	248.7	250.8	248.7				
2-Haro Strait	624.4	624.4	624.4	334.0	336.5	334.0				
3-Race Rocks	293.6	289.0	293.6	231.1	233.0	231.1				

Figures 10–12 present the percent of LD remaining relative to ambient, in both the communication and echolocation frequency bands for all scenarios and receiver depths. Corresponding values are listed in Table C-3.



Figure 10. Relative listening distance (to ambient) at Site 1 (Swanson Channel) in the SRKW communication band (500 Hz to 15 kHz) (left) and echolocation band (15–64 kHz) (right) for the 10 m receiver (top) and 60 m receiver (bottom). A value of 100% corresponds to no change to the listening distance (i.e., Same LD as under ambient conditions), a value of 50% corresponds to a halving of the listening distance, and 10% corresponds to 10% of the original LD (under ambient conditions).

ASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Noise Reductions for Increased Stand-off Distances in SRKW Critical Habitat



Figure 11. Relative listening distance (to ambient) at Site 2 (Haro Strait) in the SRKW communication band (500 Hz to 15 kHz) (left) and echolocation band (15–64 kHz) (right) for the 10 m receiver (top) and 60 m receiver (bottom).



Noise Reductions for Increased Stand-off Distances in SRKW Critical Habitat



Figure 12. Relative listening distance (to ambient) at Site 3 (Race Rocks) in the SRKW communication band (500 Hz to 15 kHz) (left) and echolocation band (15–64 kHz) (right) for the 10 m receiver (top) and 60 m receiver (bottom).

# 4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Noise from vessels has been identified as a contributing threat to the recovery of endangered Southern Resident killer whales (SRKW); because of this, in 2019 and 2020 the Government of Canada increased the minimum approach distance to all killer whales in SRKW critical habitat (with expanded range for 2020) from 200 to 400 m as an interim measure. In this study, we modelled the noise reductions at simulated whale pod locations achieved by this increase in the approach distance as well as longer increases of 600, 800, and 1000 m. Three vessel scenarios (10, 17, and 27 vessels) at two listener depths (10 and 60 m) were analyzed at three sites within the critical habitat (Swanson Channel, Haro Strait, and Race Rocks). This work expands on previous modelling studies for DFO, which examined smaller approach distances of 100 and 200 m (Wladichuk and Hannay 2017, Yurk et al. 2017).

In this assessment, we applied a relatively new approach known as the listening distance method, to examine the effects of noise exposures on the ability of killer whales to hear communication and echolocation signals under different noise conditions resulting from the presence of vessels in the whales' vicinity. The LD method determines the relative changes in the distances over which important sounds could be detected by a listener (here, a whale) in the presence of differing amounts of noise.

The modelling predicted the reductions in vessel noise levels that the whale perceived resulting from adopting a 400 m approach distance relative to the previously prescribed 200 m, as well as increasing it to 600, 800, and 1000 m. The reductions in the modelled vessel noise levels for all of the approach distances were investigated over three important frequency bands to the SRKW – broadband (10 Hz to 64 kHz), communication (500 Hz to 15 kHz) and echolocation (15 to 64 kHz, note full bandwidth is referenced up to 100 kHz) (Heise et al. 2017).

In general, the results showed a near-linear increase in noise level reductions with an increase in the vessel approach distance. However, there were a couple scenarios where there were minimal reductions by increasing the approach distance from 600 to 800 m, mainly at the deeper modelling site (Haro Strait). Interestingly though, there were greater noise reductions at the Haro Strait site when increasing the approach distance from 200 to 400 m.

The broadband noise reductions from increasing the approach distance from 200 m to the longer distances, varied by different amounts depending on location, listener depth and number of vessels (Tables 1–2). Overall, the average broadband reductions across all scenarios examined were 3.5 dB when increasing the approach distance from 200 to 400 m, 6.1 dB when increasing from 200 to 600 m, 7.5 dB when increasing from 200 to 800 m, and 9.7 dB when increasing from 200 to 1000 m. And the average broadband increase above ambient levels (median noise levels in Boundary Pass) when a 200 m minimum approach distance was used was 22.5 dB across the 3 sites and all vessel density scenarios. Even using a 1000 m approach distance, the broadband noise levels were still approximately 12 dB above ambient noise levels in Boundary Pass.

The relative change in listening distances (LD) is similar across all vessel densities for each increase in approach distance. The largest reduction in LD compared to ambient noise conditions, occurred with the greatest number of modelled vessels (27) present at the shortest approach distance (200 m), as was expected. The reduction in LD in the communication band was 96%, meaning only 4% of the original LD, corresponding to no whale watch vessels present, remained. This maximum reduction occurred in Swanson Channel - the shallowest study site. The greater effect in shallow water is attributed to the influence of vessel noise that is reflected from the seabed and surface, increasing the masking noise levels more than would occur in deeper water. As a result, the deepest site (Haro Strait) showed the smallest LD

reductions. Still, at this site there remained only 55% of the ambient-only LD in the communication band when 10 vessels were near the 1000 m approach distance.

Interestingly, there were minimal increases in LD in the communication band between the 600 and 800 m scenarios, particularly at the 10 m receiver at the two shallower sites (Swanson Channel and Race Rocks) due to propagation characteristics in shallow-water environments. This result is attributed to a lower rate of decrease of vessel noise with distance in shallow water relative to deeper water. Essentially the seabed and surface reflect the vessel noise, trapping sound energy in a disk-shaped volume that grows proportionately with distance. In deeper water the energy expands in a spherical shape and the increase is squared with distance, so the energy density decrease with distance in deep water is more rapid.

As noted previously, reduction in LD in the echolocation/foraging band was always less than in the communication band. That is partly due to the spectral content of the vessel noise which has more energy below 10 kHz at slow speeds (Wladichuk et al. 2018), but this result is primarily due to inherent differences in acoustic propagation loss between passive listening and echolocation. Echolocation propagation loss in decibels is twice that of passive listening for the same listener-to-source (or target) distance. That is because echolocation sounds experience two-way propagation loss: on the paths from the source animal to the target and then from the target back to the source animal, which in the case of echolocation is also the listener. Consequently, the same change in distance causes a greater change in echolocation sound level than to a passive listening sound level. These distance increases must balance the increase in vessel noise. Therefore, a smaller reduction in echolocation distance from the listener.

The largest reduction in LD in the echolocation band was by 79% (27 vessels at 200 m in Swanson Channel). In contrast, there were no reductions in LD for some of the longer approach distance scenarios (ex. 10 and 17 vessels at 1000 m in Haro Strait). With the present 400 m minimum approach distance, the remaining echolocation distances ranged from 35% to 64% of the LD with no vessels present. It is noted that even the ambient noise levels, used here as a reference, includes vessel noise: it is based on the median ambient noise level in Boundary Pass. Larger LD reduction percentages would be predicted using ambient noise statistics representative of the natural acoustic environment only. Another notable finding is that there were generally greater noise reductions from increasing the approach distance on the deeper (60 m) receiver than on the shallower (10 m) receiver. This suggests that there is less impact while the whales are foraging at depth but has a greater impact while they are travelling, resting, and searching for prey near the surface.

LD estimations are specific to the given propagation conditions and ambient sound levels. They also vary with the source levels and frequencies of the signals that the whales are attempting to detect. For example, source levels of killer whale calls can vary by more than 20 dB (Miller 2006, Holt et al. 2011). So, a change in relative LD from increasing the approach distance imparts more absolute benefit to some calls than others, depending on the ambient sound levels and propagation loss: a loud sound will have a longer initial detection distance than a quiet sound, so an improvement or impairment of relative LD will cause a *greater* change in the absolute detection distance for the louder sound.

Finally, vessel speed influences both the loudness and frequency spectrum of radiated noise (Erbe 2002, Wladichuk et al. 2018). This study used only a single source level spectrum for each vessel type, and thereby assumed the vessels were travelling at a fixed speed, roughly equal to 5 knots. This is a typical average speed for vessels engaged in active whale watching, but likely the vessels would be adjusting their speed frequently. Different vessel speeds lead to different masking sound levels and therefore different relative LDs. So, variations in vessel

speed, at different distances from the whales, could be considered in future impact studies. Attention might be focussed on the speeds of vessels as they approach and depart from whales, which are generally much higher than when they are alongside. Additionally, vessel orientation might be a factor that could affect noise levels due to the origin of the noise source and subsequent radiation patterns (Arveson and Vendittis 2000) and was not considered here. However, whale-watching vessels are more likely to parallel the whales, in accordance with the Be Whale Wise guidelines (BeWhaleWise.org 2019), and not position themselves directly in front or behind the whales. With that in mind, the vessel source levels used here are anticipated to be good representations of actuals given they were calculated at the vessels' closes point of approach (ie. Broadside to the recorder) as outlined by the [ISO] International Organization for Standardization (2016). Another recommendation for future studies, is to use different combinations of vessel types and to examine more vessel densities to understand other possible real-life scenarios. It would also be useful to compare reductions in listening distance between the different vessel densities rather than the same vessel density at different approach distances to consider the effects increasing the number of whale-watching vessels. Furthermore, it could also be valuable to examine changes in listening distance under different ambient noise conditions to investigate the possible range in reductions throughout SRKW critical habitat.

In conclusion, our analysis demonstrates that whale watch vessel noise can have a substantial impact on the SRKW listening distance in their communication frequency band, in particular, and that by increasing the minimum approach distance and reducing the number of vessels, there can be positive effects on reducing noise levels perceived by the whales. The listening distance analysis reveals additional important information about the relative reduction in the distance that a listener can detect an important sound when masking noise levels increase. It also accounts for the absolute hearing sensitivity of the listener, therefore can have more meaningful results than broadband noise levels.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to thank her colleagues at JASCO who performed reviews of the report: Karen Scanlon for editorial review and David Hannay for senior scientific review.

#### AUTHORIZED RELEASE

The undersigned confirms that this report meets the scope of work and has undergone all quality control checks and report reviews required by JASCO's QMS Policies and Procedures.

Role:Project Scientist/ManagerName:Jennifer WladichukDate:25 June 2021

Signature:

### LITERATURE CITED

[DFO] Fisheries and Oceans Canada. [2011]. Recovery Strategy for the Northern and Southern Resident Killer Whales (Orcinus orca) in Canada. Species at Risk Act Recovery Strategy Series. Fisheries & Oceans Canada, Ottawa, ON, Canada. 80 pp. <u>https://www.sararegistry.gc.ca/virtual\_sara/files/plans/Rs-ResidentKillerWhale-v00-2018Aug-Eng.pdf.</u>

[DFO] Fisheries and Oceans Canada. 2018. Section 2.2.3 Disturbance. Recovery Strategy for the Northern and Southern Resident Killer Whales (Orcinus orca) in Canada (webpage), 19 Sep 2018.

http://www.sararegistry.gc.ca/virtual\_sara/files/plans/rs\_epaulard\_killer\_whale\_1011\_eng.pdf.

- [DFO] Fisheries and Oceans Canada. 2020. 2020 management measures to protect Southern Resident killer whales (webpage), 13 Aug 2020. <u>http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/whales-baleines/srkw-measures-mesures-ers-eng.html</u>.
- [ISO] International Organization for Standardization. 2016. ISO 17208-1:2016. Underwater acoustics Quantities and procedures for description and measurement of underwater sound from ships – Part 1: Requirements for precision measurements in deep water used for comparison purposes. <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/62408.html</u>.
- [NGDC] National Geophysical Data Center. 2013. High resolution NOAA digital elevation model. *U.S. Coastal Relief Model (CRM)*. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, U.S. Department of Commerce. <u>http://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/dem/squareCellGrid/download/655</u>.
- [NMFS] National Marine Fisheries Service (US). [2008]. *Recovery Plan for Southern Resident Killer Whales (Orcinus orca)*. National Marine Fisheries Service, Northwest Region, Seattle,

Washington. http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/pdfs/recovery/whale\_killer.pdf.

- Aerts, L., M. Blees, S.B. Blackwell, C.R. Greene, Jr., K.H. Kim, D.E. Hannay, and M.E. Austin. [2008].
   Marine mammal monitoring and mitigation during BP Liberty OBC seismic survey in Foggy Island Bay, Beaufort Sea, July-August 2008: 90-day report. Document Number LGL Report P1011-1.
   Report by LGL Alaska Research Associates Inc., LGL Ltd., Greeneridge Sciences Inc. and JASCO Applied Sciences for BP Exploration Alaska. 199 pp.
   http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/pdfs/permits/bp\_liberty\_monitoring.pdf.
- Arveson, P.T. and D.J. Vendittis. [2000]. *Radiated noise characteristics of a modern cargo ship*. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 107(1), pp. 118-129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.428344</u>.
- Au, W.W.L., J.K.B. Ford, J.K. Horne, and K.A.N. Allman. [2004]. Echolocation signals of free-ranging killer whales (Orcinus orca) and modeling of foraging for chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 115(2), pp. 901-909. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.1642628.
- Barber, J.R., K.R. Crooks, and K.M. Fristrup. [2010]. *The costs of chronic noise exposure for terrestrial organisms*. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, Vol. 25(3), pp. 180-189.
- Barrett-Lennard, L.G., J.K.B. Ford, and K.A. Heise. [1996]. *The mixed blessing of echolocation: Differences in sonar use by fish-eating and mammal-eating killer whales*. Animal Behaviour, Vol. 51(3), pp. 553-565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.1996.0059</u>.
- BeWhaleWise.org. 2019. *Be whale wise* (webpage). <u>https://www.bewhalewise.org/</u>. (Accessed 9 Oct 2020).
- Branstetter, B.K., J. St. Leger, D. Acton, J. Stewart, D. Houser, J.J. Finneran, and K. Jenkins. [2017]. *Killer whale (Orcinus orca) behavioral audiograms*. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 141(4), pp. 2387-2398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.4979116</u>.
- Clay, C.S. and H. Medwin. [1977]. Acoustical Oceanography. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Collins, M.D. [1993]. A split-step Padé solution for the parabolic equation method. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 93(4), pp. 1736-1742. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.406739</u>.
- Collins, M.D., R.J. Cederberg, D.B. King, and S. Chin-Bing. [1996]. *Comparison of algorithms for solving parabolic wave equations*. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 100(1), pp. 178-182. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.415921.
- Erbe, C. [2002]. Underwater noise of whale-watching boats and potential effects on killer whales (Orcinus orca), based on an acoustic impact model. Marine Mammal Science, Vol. 18(2), pp. 394-418. https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2002.tb01045.x.

- Erbe, C., A.O. MacGillivray, and R. Williams. [2012]. Mapping cumulative noise from shipping to inform marine spatial planning. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 132(5), pp. EL423-EL428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.4758779</u>
- Fisher, F.H. and V.P. Simmons. [1977]. *Sound absorption in sea water*. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 62(3), pp. 558-564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.381574</u>.
- Funk, D., D.E. Hannay, D.S. Ireland, R. Rodrigues, and W.R. Koski (eds.). 2008. Marine mammal monitoring and mitigation during open water seismic exploration by Shell Offshore Inc. in the Chukchi and Beaufort Seas, July–November 2007: 90-day report. LGL Report P969-1. Prepared by LGL Alaska Research Associates Inc., LGL Ltd., and JASCO Research Ltd. for Shell Offshore Inc., National Marine Fisheries Service (U.S.), and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 218 pp.
- Government of Canada. 2020. Interim Order for the Protection of the Killer Whale (Orcinus orca) in the Waters of Southern British Columbia, 2020 (webpage). Transport Canada, 1 Jun 2020. <u>https://www.tc.gc.ca/eng/mediaroom/interim-order-protection-killer-whales-waters-southern-british-columbia.html</u>.
- Hall, J.D. and C.S. Johnson. [1972]. Auditory thresholds of a killer whale Orcinus orca Linnaeus. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 51(2B), pp. 515-517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.1912871</u>.
- Hamilton, E.L. [1980]. *Geoacoustic modeling of the sea floor*. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 68(5), pp. 1313-1340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.385100</u>.
- Hannay, D.E. and R. Racca. [2005]. Acoustic Model Validation. Document Number 0000-S-90-04-T-7006-00-E, Revision 02, Version 1.3. Technical report by JASCO Research Ltd. for Sakhalin Energy Investment Company Ltd. 34 pp.
- Hatch, L.T., C.W. Clark, S.M. Van Parijs, A.S. Frankel, and D.W. Ponirakis. [2012]. Quantifying loss of acoustic communication space for right whales in and around a U.S. National Marine Sanctuary. Conservation Biology, Vol. 26(6), pp. 983-994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2012.01908.x</u>.
- Hauser, D.D.W., G.R. Van Blaricom, E.E. Holmes, and R.W. Osborne. [2006]. Evaluating the use of whalewatch data in determining killer whale (Orcinus orca) distribution patterns. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management, Vol. 8(3), pp. 273.
- Hauser, D.D.W., M.G. Logsdon, E.E. Holmes, G.R. VanBlaricom, and R.W. Osborne. [2007]. Summer distribution patterns of southern resident killer whales Orcinus orca: Core areas and spatial segregation of social groups. Marine Ecology Progress Series, Vol. 351, pp. 301-310. http://www.int-res.com/articles/meps2007/351/m351p301.pdf.
- Heise, K., L. Barrett-Lennard, R. Chapman, T. Dakin, C. Erbe, D.E. Hannay, N. Merchant, J. Pilkington, S. Thornton, et al. [2017]. Proposed Metrics for the Management of Underwater Noise for Southern Resident Killer Whales. Coastal Ocean Report Series. Volume 2017/2. Report for the Coastal Ocean Research Institute. © Ocean Wise 2017, Vancouver, Canada. 31 pp. http://wildwhales.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Read-the-Report.pdf.
- Holt, M.M., D.P. Noren, and C.K. Emmons. [2011]. Effects of noise levels and call types on the source levels of killer whale calls. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 130(5), pp. 3100-3106. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1121/1.3641446</u>.
- Ireland, D.S., R. Rodrigues, D. Funk, W.R. Koski, and D.E. Hannay. [2009]. *Marine mammal monitoring* and mitigation during open water seismic exploration by Shell Offshore Inc. in the Chukchi and Beaufort Seas, July–October 2008: 90-Day Report. Document Number LGL Report P1049-1. 277 pp.
- Justice Laws. [2020]. *Marine Mammal Regulations (SOR/93-56)*. Government of Canada. Current to 22 Sep 2020. Last amended on 2 Nov 2018. <u>https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/Regulations/SOR-93-56/index.html</u>.
- Martin, B., K. Bröker, M.-N.R. Matthews, J.T. MacDonnell, and L. Bailey. 2015. *Comparison of measured and modeled air-gun array sound levels in Baffin Bay, West Greenland. OceanNoise 2015*, 11-15 May, Barcelona, Spain.
- Matthews, M.-N.R., A. Schlesinger, and D.E. Hannay. [2016]. *Cumulative and Chronic Effects in the Beaufort and Chukchi Seas: Estimating Reduction of Listening Area and Communication Space due to Seismic and Exploratory Drilling Activities in Support of the NMFS PEIS*. Document Number 01072, Version 1.0. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for AECOM.
- Miller, P.J. [2006]. *Diversity in sound pressure levels and estimated active space of resident killer whale vocalizations*. Journal of Comparative Physiology A, Vol. 192, pp. 449-459.

- Mouy, X., J.L. Wladichuk, and M.E. Austin. [2020]. *Modelling Acoustic Detection Ranges of Southern Resident Killer Whales*. Document Number 02241, Version 1.0. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for Fisheries and Oceans Canada.
- Nedwell, J.R. and A.W. Turnpenny. 1998. The use of a generic frequency weighting scale in estimating environmental effect. *Workshop on Seismics and Marine Mammals*. 23–25 Jun 1998, London, UK.
- Nedwell, J.R., A.W. Turnpenny, J. Lovell, S.J. Parvin, R. Workman, and J.A.L. Spinks. [2007]. *A validation of the dB<sub>ht</sub> as a measure of the behavioural and auditory effects of underwater noise*. Document Number 534R1231 Report prepared by Subacoustech Ltd. for the UK Department of Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform under Project No. RDCZ/011/0004. http://www.subacoustech.com/wp-content/uploads/534R1231.pdf.
- O'Neill, C., D. Leary, and A. McCrodan. 2010. Sound Source Verification. (Chapter 3) In Blees, M.K., K.G. Hartin, D.S. Ireland, and D.E. Hannay (eds.). Marine mammal monitoring and mitigation during open water seismic exploration by Statoil USA E&P Inc. in the Chukchi Sea, August-October 2010: 90-day report. LGL Report P1119. Prepared by LGL Alaska Research Associates Inc., LGL Ltd., and JASCO Applied Sciences Ltd. for Statoil USA E&P Inc., National Marine Fisheries Service (U.S.), and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. pp 1-34.
- Pine, M.K., D.E. Hannay, S.J. Insley, W.D. Halliday, and F. Juanes. [2018]. Assessing vessel slowdown for reducing auditory masking for marine mammals and fish of the western Canadian Arctic. Marine Pollution Bulletin, Vol. 135, pp. 290-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.07.031</u>.
- Porter, M.B. and Y.-C. Liu. 1994. Finite-element ray tracing. *In*: Lee, D. and M.H. Schultz (eds.). *Proceedings of the International Conference on Theoretical and Computational Acoustics*. Volume 2. World Scientific Publishing Co. pp 947-956.
- Racca, R.G., A. Rutenko, K. Bröker, and M.E. Austin. 2012a. A line in the water design and enactment of a closed loop, model based sound level boundary estimation strategy for mitigation of behavioural impacts from a seismic survey. *11th European Conference on Underwater Acoustics* 2012. Volume 34(3), Edinburgh, United Kingdom.
- Racca, R.G., A. Rutenko, K. Bröker, and G. Gailey. 2012b. *Model based sound level estimation and infield adjustment for real-time mitigation of behavioural impacts from a seismic survey and postevent evaluation of sound exposure for individual whales. Acoustics 2012 Fremantle: Acoustics, Development and the Environment*, Fremantle, Australia. http://www.acoustics.asn.au/conference\_proceedings/AAS2012/papers/p92.pdf.
- Riesch, R., J.K.B. Ford, and F. Thomsen. [2006]. Stability and group specificity of stereotyped whistles in resident killer whales, Orcinus orca, off British Columbia. Animal Behaviour, Vol. 71(1), pp. 79-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2005.03.026.
- Szymanski, M.D., D.E. Bain, K. Kiehl, S. Pennington, S. Wong, and K.R. Henry. [1999]. *Killer whale (Orcinus orca) hearing: Auditory brainstem response and behavioral audiograms*. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 106(2), pp. 1134-1141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.427121</u>.
- Tennessen, J.B., M.M. Holt, M.B. Hanson, C.K. Emmons, D.A. Giles, and J.T. Hogan. [2019]. Kinematic signatures of prey capture from archival tags reveal sex differences in killer whale foraging activity. Journal of Experimental Biology, Vol. 222(3), pp. jeb191874. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.191874.
- Terhune, J.M. and D. Killorn. [2021]. A Method for Preliminary Assessment of the Masking Potential of Anthropogenic Noise to Baleen Whale Calls. Aquatic mammals, Vol. 47(3), pp. 283-291. https://doi.org/10.1578/AM.47.3.2021.283.
- Urick, R.J. [1983]. *Principles of Underwater Sound*. 3rd edition. McGraw-Hill, New York, London. 423 pp.
- Warner, G.A., C. Erbe, and D.E. Hannay. 2010. Underwater Sound Measurements. (Chapter 3) In Reiser, C.M., D. Funk, R. Rodrigues, and D.E. Hannay (eds.). Marine Mammal Monitoring and Mitigation during Open Water Shallow Hazards and Site Clearance Surveys by Shell Offshore Inc. in the Alaskan Chukchi Sea, July-October 2009: 90-Day Report. LGL Report P1112-1. Report by LGL Alaska Research Associates Inc. and JASCO Applied Sciences for Shell Offshore Inc., National Marine Fisheries Service (U.S.), and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. pp 1-54.
- Wladichuk, J.L., G. Warner, A. McCrodan, and A.O. MacGillivray. [2014]. *Appendix 9.8A Construction and Terminal Activity Underwater Noise Modelling Study*. Roberts Bank Terminal 2 Technical Report—Underwater Noise Construction Activities and Terminal Vessel Operations Noise

ASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Modelling Study. Technical report prepared by JASCO Applied Sciences for Port Metro Vancouver. 198 pp. <u>http://www.ceaa-acee.gc.ca/050/documents/p80054/101367E.pdf</u>.

- Wladichuk, J.L. and D.E. Hannay. [2017]. *Modelling Underwater Sound from Small Vessels in Southern Resident Killer Whale Critical Habitat: Using Field Source Level Measurements*. Document Number 01537, Version 2.0. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for Fisheries and Oceans Canada.
- Wladichuk, J.L., D.E. Hannay, A.O. MacGillivray, and Z. Li. [2018]. Whale Watch and Small Vessel Underwater Noise Measurements Study: Final Report. Document Number 01522, Version 3.0. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for Vancouver Fraser Port Authority ECHO Program. <u>https://www.portvancouver.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/2019-02-Whale-watchingboats-and-small-vessel-underwater-noise-measurements-study.pdf.</u>
- Wladichuk, J.L. [2020]. Modelling Underwater Sound from Small Vessels in Southern Resident Killer Whale Critical Habitat: Noise Reductions for Increased Approach Distances of 400, 600, 800, and 1000 m. Document Number 02009, Version 2.0. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for Innovation Centre, Transport Canada.
- Wright, B.M., J.K.B. Ford, G.M. Ellis, V.B. Deecke, A.D. Shapiro, B.C. Battaile, and A.W. Trites. [2017]. Fine-scale foraging movements by fish-eating killer whales (Orcinus orca) relate to the vertical distributions and escape responses of salmonid prey (Oncorhynchus spp.). Movement Ecology, Vol. 5, pp. 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-017-0094-0</u>.
- Yurk, H., A.O. MacGillivray, A. Schlesinger, and D.E. Hannay. [2017]. *Modelling Underwater Sound from Small Vessels in Southern Resident Killer Whale Critical Habitat*. Document Number 01315, Version 1.1. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for Fisheries and Oceans Canada.
- Zhang, Z.Y. and C.T. Tindle. [1995]. *Improved equivalent fluid approximations for a low shear speed ocean bottom*. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Vol. 98(6), pp. 3391-3396. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.413789.

# APPENDIX A. KILLER WHALE AUDIOGRAM

All mammalian hearing evolved for a terrestrial ecosystem. Adaptations of the hearing apparatus and marine mammal physiology, especially for fully aquatic cetaceans, extended these animals' hearing ranges to include higher frequencies (e.g., 150 Hz to 200 kHz in odontocetes versus 20 Hz to 80 kHz in most terrestrial mammals) but reduced their ability to hear low frequencies (< 1 kHz).

The SRKW audiogram used in this and the previous studies (Figure A-1) is based on data published for captive killer whales by Branstetter et al. (2017), Szymanski et al. (1999), and Hall and Johnson (1972). It accounts for pool noise influences and uses the best reported sensitivity at each tested frequency. It incorporates augmentations by H. Yurk and J. Wood to extend the hearing threshold to the lower frequencies outside the range of the reported measurements



(pers. comm.).

Figure A-1. Modelled resident killer whale hearing threshold (i.e., audiogram) versus frequency, based on data for killer whales from Branstetter et al. (2017), Szymanski et al. (1999), and Hall and Johnson (1972) with extrapolation by H. Yurk and J. Wood.

# APPENDIX B. MODELLING METHODS AND PARAMETERS

#### **B.1. Marine Operations Noise Model**

As in the two previous studies, underwater propagation loss of vessel noise was predicted with JASCO's Marine Operations Noise Model (MONM).

MONM computes acoustic propagation at frequencies of 10 Hz to 2 kHz via a wide-angle parabolic equation solution to the acoustic wave equation (Collins 1993) based on a version of the U.S. Naval Research Laboratory's Range-dependent Acoustic Model (RAM), which has been modified to account for a solid seabed (Zhang and Tindle 1995). The parabolic equation method has been extensively benchmarked and is widely employed in the underwater acoustics community (Collins et al. 1996). MONM accounts for the additional reflection loss at the seabed, which results from partial conversion of incident compressional waves to shear waves at the seabed and sub-bottom interfaces, and it includes wave attenuations in all layers. MONM incorporates the following site-specific environmental properties: a bathymetric grid of the modelled area, underwater sound speed as a function of depth, and a geoacoustic profile based on the overall stratified composition of the seafloor.

MONM computes acoustic propagation at frequencies higher than 2 kHz using a Gaussian beam acoustic ray-trace model (Porter and Liu 1994), based on the widely used BELLHOP model. This version of MONM accounts for sound attenuation due to energy absorption through ion relaxation and viscosity of water in addition to acoustic attenuation due to reflection at the medium boundaries and internal layers (Fisher and Simmons 1977). The former type of sound attenuation is significant for frequencies higher than 5 kHz and cannot be neglected without noticeably affecting the model results.

MONM computes acoustic fields in three dimensions by modelling propagation loss within twodimensional (2-D) vertical planes aligned along radials covering a 360° swath from the source, an approach commonly referred to as *N*×2-D. These vertical radial planes are separated by an angular step size of  $\Delta\theta$ , yielding *N* = 360°/ $\Delta\theta$  number of planes (Figure B-1).



Figure B-1. The *N*×2-D and maximum-over-depth modelling approach used by MONM.

MONM treats frequency dependence by computing acoustic propagation loss at the centre frequencies of 1/3-octave-bands. Sufficiently many 1/3-octave-bands, starting at 10 Hz, are modelled to include most of the acoustic energy emitted by the source. At each centre frequency, the propagation loss is modelled within each of the *N* vertical planes as a function of depth and range from the source. The 1/3-octave-band received sound levels are computed by subtracting the band propagation loss values from the directional source level in that frequency band. Composite broadband received levels are then computed by summing the received 1/3-octave-band levels.

The received sound field within each vertical radial plane is sampled at various ranges from the source, generally with a fixed radial step size. At each sampling range along the surface, the sound field is sampled at various depths, with the step size between samples increasing with depth below the surface. The step sizes are chosen to provide increased coverage near the depth of the source and at depths of interest in terms of the sound speed profile. For areas with deep water, sampling is not performed at depths beyond those reachable by marine mammals. The received sound level at a surface sampling location is taken as the maximum value that occurs over all samples within the water column, i.e., the maximum-over-depth received sound level. These maximum-over-depth sound levels are presented as colour contours around the source.

MONM's predictions have been validated against experimental data from several underwater acoustic measurement programs conducted by JASCO (Hannay and Racca 2005, Aerts et al. 2008, Funk et al. 2008, Ireland et al. 2009, O'Neill et al. 2010, Warner et al. 2010, Racca et al. 2012a, Racca et al. 2012b, Martin et al. 2015).

#### **B.2. Environmental Parameters**

This section describes the environmental parameters that were used in MONM to simulate the effect of the water and seabed on sound propagation in the study area.

#### B.2.1. Bathymetry

A flat bathymetry was used in the modelling of the three study areas, with water depth equal to that at each of the three modelling sites as obtained from the following two sources (Figure B-2):

- Data south of latitude 49°N were obtained from the NOAA digital elevation model (NGDC 2013);
- Data north of latitude 49°N were obtained from a Canadian Hydrographic Service (CHS) digital elevation map from Nautical Data International Inc. (NDI).

ASCO APPLIED SCIENCES



Figure B-2. Bathymetry in the region of the modelled areas.

#### B.2.2. Geoacoustics

The geoacoustic properties of the seabed strongly influence propagation loss because reflection and absorption of sound energy at the seabed is a dominant loss mechanism in shallow water (Urick 1983). The seabed geoacoustic properties for the study area were obtained from Wladichuk et al. (2014) and a review of the scientific literature (Hamilton 1980, Erbe et al. 2012).

Considering the geographic variation across the study area, the modelled sites fall into two distinct geoacoustic regions based on the bottom substrate: Sites 1 and 2 in one region, and Site 3 in another (Table B-1). Seafloor sediments with higher sound speed values will reflect sound energy more strongly back into the water column; therefore, higher sound levels are received by marine fauna nearby. Whereas lower seafloor sound speed allows for more sound energy to be absorbed into the substrate and will therefore reduce the amount that is received by marine mammals nearby.

Site	Depth below	Sediment	Density	Compress	ional wave	Shear wave	
	seafloor (m)	type	(g/cm <sup>3</sup> )	Speed (m/s)	Attenuation (dB/λ)	Speed (m/s)	Attenuation (dB/λ)
1-Swanson Channel 2-Haro Strait	0–50	Sand-silt-clay	1.80	1,541–1,591	0.72	250	1.2
	>50	Bedrock	1.90	2,275	0.10		
3-Race Rocks	0–50	Silt	1.64	1,558–1,608	0.83	500	2.4
	>50	Bedrock	1.90	2,275	0.10	500	3.4

Table B-1. Geoacoustic profiles for the three modelled sites based on Wladichuk et al. (2014). Within the top layer, the compressional speed varies linearly with depth within the stated range.

#### **B.2.3. Sound Speed Profiles**

Seasonal changes of water temperature and salinity influence the corresponding water sound speed profile. The sound speed profile can have a large effect on the propagation loss throughout the entire water column and needs to be considered accordingly. Water column sound speed profiles for the study area for July were computed from historical temperature and salinity data obtained from DFO Institute of Ocean Sciences (Patricia Bay) Ocean Sciences Division. A monthly average sound speed profile was computed from approximately 120 historical temperature-salinity casts for July, collected between the years of 2006 to 2010 (Figure B-3). Depth profiles of temperature and salinity were converted to speed of sound in water (*c* [m/s]) using the following formula (Clay and Medwin 1977):

$$c = 1449.2 + 4.6T - 0.055T^{2} + 0.00029T^{3} + (1.34 - 0.01T)(S - 35) + 0.016z$$
(B-1)

In this formula, z is depth in metres, T is temperature in degrees Celsius, and S is salinity in parts per thousand.

The monthly sound speed profiles exhibited the greatest variability in the upper 80 m of the water column. Solar heating in summer results in a downward-refracting profile, which is less favourable for long-range propagation of vessel noise. The mean sound speed profiles for July were used to represent the acoustic properties of the water column in the models. Analysis of the sound speed profiles showed no strong north-south trend in the data; therefore, one single sound speed profile was assumed throughout the study area and for all modelled sites.



Figure B-3. Sound speed profiles (SSPs) from Fisheries and Oceans Canada's (DFO) database during the month of July from 2006 to 2010 and the average sound speed profile (SSP) (red bold line), which was used in the models.

#### **B.3. Vessel Source Parameters**

Propeller cavitation and hull-borne machine vibration are the predominant sources of underwater noise from vessels. Different types of vessels have characteristic source level (SL) spectra (i.e., variations of sound emission levels with sound frequency) because of their specific design and operating conditions.

Vessel SLs were obtained from a systematic field study of 20 different small vessels (whale watching, pleasure, and fishing vessels), in which transects were conducted at a range of speeds near Site 1 (Haro Strait) (Wladichuk and Hannay 2017). Median levels for each vessel type were computed in 1/3-octave-bands from 10 Hz to 63 kHz, covering the frequency range where most vessel sound energy emissions overlap with killer whale hearing.

The SLs (Figure B-4) for each vessel category were computed from the field study transects that had speeds of less than 7 knots in accordance with the *Be Whale Wise* guidelines (BeWhaleWise.org 2019).

When modelling acoustic propagation loss, the sound from a vessel is assumed to radiate from a point source. The water depth of that point source was chosen for each vessel type based on its length overall (LOA) following Erbe et al. (2012). For vessels with an LOA greater than 10 m, we placed the source at 1.3 m depth, and for smaller vessels, at 0.5 m depth (Table 2).



Figure B-4. Modelled 1/3-octave-band source levels (SLs) computed from the median of the slow speed (<7 knots) transects conducted in the field SL measurements study (Wladichuk and Hannay 2017). WW: whale watching, PV: pleasure vessel, FV: fishing vessel. Flow noise artifacts from water currents are present below around 100 Hz.

# **APPENDIX C. RESULTS TABLES**

Tables C-1 and C-2 list the modelled broadband vessel noise levels received at the whales' positions at 10 and 60 m depths, respectively, for all scenarios considered in this study (i.e., three sites, each with 10, 17, or 27 vessels, for approach distances of 100, 200, 400, 600, 800, and 1000 m). The tables also present the reductions in received sound levels achieved, from the average of the 1000 iterations for each scenario, by using the longer approach distances compared to the previously considered one of 200 m, as well as the difference between 200 m and ambient.

Table C-1. 10 m listener depth: Modelled broadband vessel noise levels (SPL in dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa) and reduction with approach distance at the SRKW location for all scenarios at each site. The dB differences (grey rows) show the difference between ambient and vessels at 200 m and the reductions when the approach distance is increased from 200 m to longer distances.

Site	Approach	SPL (dB re 1 µPa) 8.9 Hz to 64 kHz			
Olic	distance (m)	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	
	100	124.2	126.6	128.6	
	200	120.3	122.5	124.5	
	400	117.2	119.4	121.3	
	600	114.8	116.9	118.8	
	800	112.7	115.1	117.1	
1-Swanson Channel	1000	110.1	112.9	115.1	
	Difference, ambient vs 200 m (dB)	20.6	22.8	24.8	
	Difference, 200 vs 400 m (dB)	3.1*	3.1	3.2	
	Difference, 200 vs 600 m (dB)	5.5	5.6	5.7	
	Difference, 200 vs 800 m (dB)	7.7	7.4	7.4	
	Difference, 200 vs 1000 m (dB)	10.2	9.6	9.4	
	100	121.4	124.4	126.6	
	200	116.5	119.4	121.6	
	400	113.7	115.6	117.4	
	600	111.7	113.7	115.6	
	800	111.8	113.5	115.1	
2-Haro Strait	1000	108.5	110.4	112.2	
	Difference, ambient vs 200 m (dB)	16.8	19.7	21.9	
	Difference, 200 vs 400 m (dB)	2.8	3.8	4.2	
	Difference, 200 vs 600 m (dB)	4.8	5.7	6.0	
	Difference, 200 vs 800 m (dB)	4.7	5.9	6.5	
	Difference, 200 vs 1000 m (dB)	8.0	9.0	9.4	
	100	121.3	124.3	126.5	
	200	117.3	119.8	121.8	
	400	115.6	117.4	119.1	
3-Race Rocks	600	112.0	114.2	116.2	
	800	111.4	113.6	115.5	
	1000	108.3	110.8	112.8	
	Difference, ambient vs 200 m (dB)	17.6	20.1	22.1	

JASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Noise Reductions for Increased Stand-off Distances in SRKW Critical Habitat

Site	Approach	SPL (dB re 1 µPa) 8.9 Hz to 64 kHz			
	distance (m)	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	
	Difference, 200 vs 400 m (dB)	1.7	2.4	2.7	
	Difference, 200 vs 600 m (dB)	5.3	5.6	5.6	
	Difference, 200 vs 800 m (dB)	5.9	6.2	6.3	
	Difference, 200 vs 1000 m (dB)	9.0	9.0	9.0	

\* To calculate the difference in sound level between 10 vessels at 400 m and ambient: 20.6 dB - 3.1 dB = 17.5 dB.

JASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Table C-2. 60 m listener depth: Modelled broadband vessel noise levels (SPL in dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa) and reduction with approach distance at the SRKW location for all scenarios at each site. The dB differences (grey rows) show the reduction in vessel noise levels when the approach distance is increased from 200 m to longer distances.

Site	Approach	SPL (dB re 1 $\mu Pa$ ) 8.9 Hz to 64 kHz			
one	distance (m)	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	
	100	127.7	130.3	132.4	
	200	122.4	125.1	127.3	
	400	120.1	122.7	124.9	
	600	116.1	118.9	121.2	
	800	113.4	116.3	118.7	
1-Swanson Channel	1000	112.6	115.4	117.8	
	Difference, ambient vs 200 m (dB)	22.7	25.4	27.6	
	Difference, 200 vs 400 m (dB)	2.3	2.4	2.4	
	Difference, 200 vs 600 m (dB)	6.3	6.2	6.1	
	Difference, 200 vs 800 m (dB)	9.0	8.8	8.6	
	Difference, 200 vs 1000 m (dB)	9.8	9.7	9.5	
	100	127.1	129.6	131.7	
	200	120.8	123.4	125.5	
	400	114.6	117.4	119.6	
	600	112.4	115.0	117.1	
	800	112.1	114.7	117.0	
2-Haro Strait	1000	110.7	113.5	115.9	
	Difference, ambient vs 200 m (dB)	21.1	23.7	25.8	
	Difference, 200 vs 400 m (dB)	6.2	6.0	5.9	
	Difference, 200 vs 600 m (dB)	8.4	8.4	8.4	
	Difference, 200 vs 800 m (dB)	8.7	8.7	8.5	
	Difference, 200 vs 1000 m (dB)	10.1	9.9	9.6	
	100	127.3	129.8	131.8	
	200	121.0	123.7	125.8	
	400	117.5	119.9	122.0	
	600	115.4	118.3	120.6	
	800	112.4	115.2	117.4	
3-Race Rocks	1000	109.6	112.4	114.7	
	Difference, ambient vs 200 m (dB)	21.3	24.0	26.1	
	Difference, 200 vs 400 m (dB)	3.5	3.8	3.8	
	Difference, 200 vs 600 m (dB)	5.6	5.4	5.2	
	Difference, 200 vs 800 m (dB)	8.6	8.5	8.4	
	Difference, 200 vs 1000 m (dB)	11.4	11.3	11.1	

ASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Table C-3. Percent (%) of listening distance relative to ambient for all modelled scenarios. Results are provided for the two frequency ranges that killer whales use in acoustic signaling: 500 Hz to 14.1 kHz (covering the range of calls and lower-frequency whistles) and 14.1 kHz to 64 kHz (upper frequency range of whistles and echolocation clicks). A value of 100% corresponds to no change to the listening distance (i.e., Same LD as under ambient conditions), a value of 50% corresponds to a halving of the listening distance, and 10% corresponds to 10% of the original LD (under ambient conditions).

		Listening distance (LD)							
Site	NAAD (m)	500 Hz to 14 kHz Communication-Type			14 kHz to 64 kHz Echolocation-Type				
		10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels		
10 m listener depth									
	100	5.5	3.8	2.9	22.7	19.1	16.5		
	200	10.1	6.9	5.3	33.4	28.1	24.3		
1 Swanson Channel	400	16.0	11.1	8.6	48.3	40.6	35.2		
1-Swanson Channel	600	19.0	13.2	10.1	54.5	46.1	39.9		
	800	19.9	14.0	10.8	62.2	52.6	45.3		
	1000	24.0	16.4	12.7	67.4	56.7	49.1		
	100	6.1	4.2	3.2	23.2	19.6	16.9		
	200	12.4	8.4	6.5	35.4	29.8	25.8		
2 Hara Strait	400	28.2	19.0	14.6	60.8	51.4	44.5		
	600	38.9	26.0	19.9	82.5	69.4	60.1		
	800	46.2	31.2	24.0	100	90.4	78.3		
	1000	54.9	37.6	28.8	100	100	89.9		
	100	6.2	4.3	3.3	25.6	21.6	18.6		
	200	12.6	8.6	6.7	39.0	32.8	28.4		
2 Deep Deeke	400	25.7	17.6	13.6	64.4	54.5	47.2		
3-Race Rocks	600	26.3	18.2	14.1	76.5	64.7	56.1		
	800	25.1	17.6	13.6	86.3	73.1	63.3		
	1000	33.5	23.2	18.0	96.9	82.0	71.0		
60 m listener depth									
	100	3.8	2.7	2.0	22.2	18.6	16.2		
	200	6.8	4.7	3.7	28.6	24.2	20.8		
1 Swanaan Channal	400	11.3	7.8	6.0	38.3	32.4	28.1		
I-Swanson Channel	600	17.6	12.2	9.4	51.1	43.3	37.5		
	800	24.5	17.0	13.2	66.6	56.4	48.8		
	1000	35.0	24.2	18.8	81.5	69.0	59.4		
	100	4.1	2.8	2.2	22.8	19.1	16.6		
	200	7.6	5.2	4.1	30.1	25.3	21.9		
2 Horo Stroit	400	15.1	10.3	7.9	43.0	36.2	31.3		
2-maio Su'all	600	26.9	18.2	14.0	62.9	53.2	46.1		
	800	43.1	29.1	22.6	90.4	76.5	65.9		
	1000	54.3	37.1	28.5	100	93.6	80.6		

Noise Reductions for Increased Stand-off Distances in SRKW Critical Habitat

Site		Listening distance (LD)							
	NAAD (m)	50 Com	00 Hz to 14 kH nmunication-1	łz Гуре	14 kHz to 64 kHz Echolocation-Type				
		10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels		
	100	4.1	2.8	2.2	24.8	21.0	18.1		
	200	7.7	5.3	4.1	32.8	27.6	24.1		
2 Doop Dooko	400	14.6	10.1	7.8	46.1	39.0	33.8		
3-Race Rocks	600	20.6	14.3	11.1	62.5	52.9	45.8		
	800	27.5	19.0	14.6	80.6	68.2	58.7		
	1000	30.9	21.4	16.6	92.0	77.8	67.4		

#### **APPENDIX D. DETECTION THRESHOLD RESULTS**

The modelled sound levels were analyzed in terms of a killer whale's effective detection threshold to determine whether changes in vessel noise levels were likely to be perceptible by SRKW. The detection threshold in each 1/3-octave-band was assumed to be the greater of the ambient noise level and the SRKW audiogram. Weighted sound levels were calculated by subtracting the detection threshold from the modelled vessel noise level in each 1/3-octave frequency band. The weighted sound pressure levels from all bands were summed together to yield a single weighted sound level above the detection threshold (Tables D-1 and D-2). Weighted vessel noise levels noise levels below 0 dB cannot. The relative increase in LD between the approach distances was calculated according to the following formula, which assumes spherical spreading of sound:

$$\frac{\Delta d}{d} = 10^{\Delta L/20} - 1 \tag{D-1}$$

where  $\Delta d/d$  is the relative increase in LD and  $\Delta L$  is the reduction in the sound level above the detection threshold.

JASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Table D-1. Sound levels at 10 m receiver depth: Sound levels above detection threshold (dB re threshold) at the Southern Resident killer whale (SRKW) pod location for all the approach distances modelled and the 100 and 200 m results from Wladichuk and Hannay (2017). Results are provided for the two frequency ranges that killer whales use in acoustic signaling: 500 Hz to 14.1 kHz (typical range of calls) and 14.1 to 64 kHz (upper frequency range of whistles and echolocation clicks).

		Sound levels above detection threshold (dB re threshold)							
Site	Approach distance (m)	4 Comm	47 Hz to 14 kH unication-type	lz e range	14 kHz to 64 kHz Echolocation-type range				
	( )	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels		
	100	28.3	31.5	33.8	35.7	38.8	41.3		
	200	22.9	26.1	28.4	28.8	31.9	34.3		
1 Swanson Channol	400	18.6	21.7	24.0	21.6	24.5	27.0		
1-Swallsoft Charmer	600	17.4	20.5	22.8	18.6	21.6	24.0		
	800	16.6	19.7	22.0	15.6	18.6	21.1		
	1000	15.6	18.8	21.1	13.5	16.5	19.0		
	100	27.6	30.9	33.2	35.4	38.5	41.0		
	200	21.5	24.7	27.0	27.8	30.8	33.3		
2 Haro Strait	400	14.0	17.2	19.6	17.5	20.6	23.0		
2-11010 Strait	600	10.5	13.9	16.2	11.8	14.7	17.2		
	800	8.3	11.6	13.9	6.6	9.6	12.1		
	1000	7.0	10.2	12.5	3.0	6.0	8.5		
	100	27.1	30.3	32.6	33.9	37.0	39.5		
	200	21.0	24.3	26.6	26.3	29.4	31.8		
2 Daga Dagka	400	14.5	17.8	20.1	16.8	19.8	22.2		
J-RACE RUCKS	600	13.7	16.9	19.2	13.2	16.2	18.6		
	800	13.8	17.0	19.2	10.5	13.4	15.9		
	1000	12.0	15.2	17.5	7.6	10.5	13.0		

JASCO APPLIED SCIENCES

Table D-2. Sound levels at 60 m receiver depth: Sound levels above detection threshold (dB re threshold) at the Southern Resident killer whale (SRKW) pod location for all the approach distance modelled and the 100 and 200 m results from Wladichuk and Hannay (2017). Results are provided for the two frequency ranges that killer whales use in acoustic signaling: 500 Hz to 14.1 kHz (typical range of calls) and 14.1 to 64 kHz (upper frequency range of whistles and echolocation clicks).

		Sound levels above detection threshold (dB re threshold)							
Site	Approach distance	4 Cor	47 Hz to 14 kH nmunication-t	lz ype	14 kHz to 64 kHz Echolocation-type				
	(,	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels	10 vessels	17 vessels	27 vessels		
	100	30.1	33.4	35.7	36.3	39.3	41.7		
	200	25.8	29	31.3	31.6	34.6	37.0		
1 Swansan Channel	400	21.9	25.0	27.3	25.7	28.7	31.1		
1-Swanson Channel	600	18.2	21.4	23.6	19.9	22.9	25.3		
	800	15.1	18.3	20.6	14.3	17.3	19.7		
	1000	12.3	15.5	17.8	9.9	12.8	15.3		
	100	29.6	32.8	35.1	35.8	38.8	41.3		
	200	24.8	28.0	30.3	30.7	33.7	36.1		
2 Horo Strait	400	19.6	22.8	25.1	23.8	26.8	29.2		
	600	14.5	17.7	20.0	16.4	19.4	21.8		
	800	9.9	13.2	15.5	9.3	12.2	14.7		
	1000	7.6	10.8	13.1	5.2	8.1	10.6		
	100	29.3	32.5	34.8	34.4	37.4	39.9		
	200	24.5	27.6	29.9	29.4	32.4	34.8		
2 Dago Dagka	400	19.5	22.7	25.0	22.8	25.7	28.2		
J-RACE ROCKS	600	16.2	19.4	21.7	16.7	19.7	22.2		
	800	13.6	16.8	19.1	11.6	14.6	17.0		
	1000	12.6	15.8	18.0	8.6	11.5	14.0		